UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

BioSig Technologies, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

3845

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

<u>26-4333375</u>

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

8441 Wayzata Blvd., Suite 240 Minneapolis, Minnesota 55426 (763) 999-7330

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Kenneth Londoner Executive Chairman 8441 Wayzata Blvd., Suite 240 Minneapolis, Minnesota 55426 (763) 999-7330

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies of all communications, including communications sent to agent for service, should be sent to:

Rick A. Werner, Esq. Haynes and Boone, LLP 30 Rockefeller Plaza, 26th Floor New York, New York 10112 Tel. (212) 659-7300 Fax (212) 884-8234

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 check the following box. \boxtimes

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. \Box

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. \Box

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. \Box

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b–2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

(Check one):	in Rule 120-2 of the Exchange Net.
Large accelerated filer $\ \square$	Accelerated filer \square
Non-accelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company \boxtimes

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act. \square

Calculation of Registration Fee

	Amount to be	Proposed Maximum Offering Price	Proposed Maximum Aggregate	Amount of Registration
Title of Each Class of Securities to be Registered	Registered(1)	per Share	Offering Price	Fee
Common Stock, \$0.001 par value per share	3,242,668	\$ 1.34	(2) \$ 4,345,175.12	\$ 503.61
Common Stock underlying Warrants	2,041,255	\$ 1.34	(2) \$ 2,735,281.70	\$ 317.02
Total	5,283,923	\$ 1.34	(2) \$ 7,080,456.82	\$ 820.62

- (1) Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), the shares of common stock offered hereby also include an indeterminate number of additional shares of common stock as may from time to time become issuable by reason of stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations or other similar transactions.
- (2) Estimated solely for purposes of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, based upon the average of the high and low sales price of the common stock on June 2, 2017, as reported on the OTCQB.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED June 8, 2017

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS



BioSig Technologies, Inc.

Up to 3,242,668 Shares of Common Stock and up to 2,041,255 Shares of Common Stock Underlying Warrants

This prospectus relates to the resale of up to (i) 3,242,668 shares of our common stock to be offered by the selling stockholders and (ii) 2,041,255 shares of our common stock to be offered by the selling stockholders upon the exercise of outstanding common stock purchase warrants.

Our common stock trades in the over-the-counter market and is quoted on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets Group, Inc. under the symbol "BSGM." Only a limited public market currently exists for our common stock. On June 7, 2017, the last reported sale price of our shares of common stock on the OTCQB was \$1.33 per share.

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders. However, we will receive proceeds from the exercise of the warrants if the warrants are exercised for cash. We intend to use those proceeds, if any, for general corporate purposes. All expenses of registration incurred in connection with this offering are being borne by us, but all selling and other expenses incurred by the selling stockholders will be borne by the selling stockholders.

We qualify as an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and have elected to comply with certain reduced public company reporting requirements in this and future filings.

Investing in our common stock is highly speculative and involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties in the section entitled "Risk Factors" beginning on page 3 of this prospectus before making a decision to purchase our stock.

We may amend or supplement this prospectus from time to time by filing amendments or supplements as required. You should read the entire prospectus and any amendments or supplements carefully before you make your investment decision.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

, 2017

The date of this prospectus is

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Prospectus Summary	1
Risk Factors	3
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	4
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	4
Selling Stockholders	5
Description of Securities	13
Plan of Distribution	23
Legal Matters	24
Material Changes	24
<u>Experts</u>	24
Where You Can Find Additional Information	24
Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference	25

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized any other person to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.

Information contained on our website is not part of this prospectus.

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. It may not contain all the information that may be important to you. You should read this entire prospectus carefully, including the sections entitled "Risk Factors" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and our historical financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement or the documents incorporated herein by reference before making an investment decision. In this prospectus, unless the context requires otherwise, all references to "we," "our," "us" and the "Company" refer to BioSig Technologies, Inc.

Overview

We are a development stage medical device company that is developing a proprietary technology platform to minimize noise and artifacts from cardiac recordings during electrophysiology studies, where signals that measure electrical activity of the heart, such as electrocardiograms and electrograms, are measured. These signals are also evaluated during ablation, a procedure that involves delivery of energy through the tip of a catheter that scars or destroys heart tissue in order to correct heart rhythm disturbances. Our product under development, the PURE (Precise Uninterrupted Real-time evaluation of Electrograms) EP System, is a surface electrocardiogram and intracardiac multichannel recording and analysis system that acquires, processes and displays electrocardiogram and electrograms required during electrophysiology studies and ablation procedures. The PURE EP System is intended to be used in addition to existing electrophysiology recorders. We believe that data provided by the PURE EP System will increase the workload ability and enhance the capabilities of the typical electrophysiology laboratory.

We were formed as BioSig Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation, in February 2009. In April 2011, we merged with our wholly-owned subsidiary, BioSig Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation, with the Delaware corporation continuing as the surviving entity. We have not generated any revenue to date and consequently our operations are subject to all risks inherent in the establishment of a new business enterprise.

Our principal executive offices are located at 8441 Wayzata Blvd., Suite 240, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55426, telephone number (763) 999-7330. Our website address is www.biosigtech.com. Information accessed through our website is not incorporated into this prospectus and is not a part of this prospectus.

1

The Offering

Common stock offered by the selling

stockholders:

Up to 3,242,668 shares of our common stock to be offered by the selling stockholders and up to 2,041,255 shares of our common stock to be offered by the selling stockholders upon

the exercise of outstanding common stock purchase warrants.

Common stock outstanding prior to the

offering:

25,315,052

Common stock outstanding after this

offering:

27,356,307 (1)

Use of proceeds:

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the common stock offered by the selling stockholders. However, we will receive proceeds from the exercise price of the warrants if the warrants are exercised for cash. We intend to use those proceeds, if any,

for general corporate purposes.

OTCOB trading symbol:

Risk factors:

"BSGM"

You should carefully consider the information set forth in this prospectus and, in particular, the specific factors set forth in the "Risk Factors" section beginning on page 3 of this prospectus before deciding whether or not to invest in shares of our common stock.

The number of shares of common stock outstanding after the offering is based upon 25,315,052 shares outstanding as of June 2, (1) 2017, and assumes the exercise of all warrants with respect to those shares being registered for resale pursuant to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

The number of shares of common stock outstanding after this offering excludes:

- 8,245,190 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of currently outstanding options at a weighted average exercise price of \$2.24 per share;
- 3,277,638 shares of common stock available for future issuance under the BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan;
- 278,540 shares of common stock issuable for accrued dividends on our Series C Preferred Stock as of March 31, 2017;
- 713,345 shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of our Series C Preferred Stock; and
- 9,031,670 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants at a weighted average exercise price of \$1.80 per share.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Before deciding whether to invest in our securities, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties and all other information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties discussed under Item 1A, "Risk Factors," in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, which is incorporated herein by reference, as updated or superseded by the risks and uncertainties described under similar headings in the other documents that are filed after the date hereof and incorporated by reference into this prospectus. The risks and uncertainties we have described are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our operations. Past financial performance may not be a reliable indicator of future performance, and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business, business prospects, financial condition or results of operations could be seriously harmed. This could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline, resulting in a loss of all or part of your investment. Please also read carefully the section below entitled "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains "forward-looking statements," which include information relating to future events, future financial performance, strategies, expectations, competitive environment and regulation. Words such as "may," "should," "could," "would," "predict," "potential," "continue," "expect," "anticipate," "future," "intend," "plan," "believe," "estimate," and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of the occurrence or the expected timing of future performance or results. Forward-looking statements are based on information we have when those statements are made or our management's good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events, and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

- inability to manufacture our product candidates on a commercial scale on our own, or in collaboration with third parties;
- difficulties in obtaining financing on commercially reasonable terms;
- changes in the size and nature of our competition;
- loss of one or more key executives or scientists; and
- difficulties in securing regulatory approval to market our product candidates.

You should review carefully the section entitled "Risk Factors" beginning on page 3 of this prospectus for a discussion of these and other risks that relate to our business and investing in shares of our common stock. We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

USE OF PROCEEDS

All shares of our common stock offered by this prospectus are being registered for the accounts of the selling stockholders and we will not receive any proceeds from the sale of these shares. However, we will receive proceeds from the exercise price of the warrants if the warrants are exercised for cash. We intend to use those proceeds, if any, for general corporate purposes.

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

Up to 5,283,923 shares of our common stock are currently being offered by the selling stockholders under this prospectus. This reflects the sum of (a) shares of our common stock and (b) the number of shares of common stock into which the warrants are exercisable. All of the shares of common stock and warrants were purchased by the selling stockholders in seven separate closings between October 2016 and March 2017 pursuant to the same unit purchase agreement (the "Private Placement"), except for (i) the warrants held by employees of Laidlaw & Co. (UK) Ltd., which were issued as part of the compensation for serving as our placement agent in connection with the Private Placement and (ii) the warrants held by employees of Laidlaw & Co. (UK) Ltd., which were issued as part of the compensation for serving as our placement agent in connection with ten separate closings between October 2015 and April 2016 pursuant to the same securities purchase agreement.

The selling stockholders that participated in the Private Placement paid a price per unit equivalent to \$1.50 for one share of common stock and a three-year warrant to purchase up to 50% of a share of common stock. In addition, due to our failure to fulfill our obligations under the registration rights agreement entered into with the participants in the Private Placement, we owe such holders liquidated damages in an amount equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such holders per month for each monthly period beginning on May 15, 2017, provided that the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreements in connection with the Private Placement shall be 6% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers. Because we have not paid such liquidated damages, we are also obligated to pay interest of 18% per annum, accruing daily, on such unpaid amounts.

The shares of common stock referred to above are being registered to permit public sales of the shares, and the selling stockholders may offer the shares for resale from time to time pursuant to this prospectus. The selling stockholders may also sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or a portion of their shares in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or pursuant to another effective registration statement covering those shares.

The table below sets forth certain information regarding the selling stockholders and the shares of our common stock offered by them in this prospectus. The selling stockholders have not had a material relationship with us within the past three years other than as described in the footnotes to the table below or as a result of their acquisition of our shares or other securities. To our knowledge, subject to community property laws where applicable, each person named in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of common stock set forth opposite such person's name. None of the selling stockholders are broker-dealers or affiliates of broker-dealers, unless otherwise noted.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. With respect to the warrants held by the selling stockholders, there exist contractual provisions limiting conversion and exercise to the extent such conversion or exercise would cause such selling stockholder, together with its affiliates or members of a "group," to beneficially own a number of shares of common stock which would exceed from 4.99% to 9.99% of our then outstanding shares of common stock following such conversion or exercise. The shares and percentage ownership of our outstanding shares indicated in the table below do not give effect to these limitations.

	Ownershin	Befor	re Offering		Ownership	After	r Offering
Selling Stockholder	Number of shares of common stock beneficially owned (1)	Belor	Number of shares offered	_	Number of shares of common stock beneficially owned (1)	Aici	Percentage of common stock beneficially owned (1)
American European Insurance Co (2)	100,002	(3)	50,001	(4)	50,001	(5)	* *
N&F 774 Trust (6)	25,001		25,001		50,001	` ′	*
Nachum & Feige Stein Foundation (8)	25,001		25,001		-		*
Nachum Stein	100,002		50,001	· /	50,001	(12)	*
Anthony Leone	60,000	. ,	60,000		-	()	*
Brandon Huffman	30,000	(14)	30,000	(14)	-		*
Cherry Pipes Ltd (15)	1,118,676	(16)	699,680	(17)	418,996	(18)	1.65%
David Cherry	15,000	(19)	15,000	. ,	-		*
Thomas David Cherry as Trustee of Cherry Family Trust	474,963		149,982		324,981	(22)	1.28%
Brian Dvorak	45,000		45,000		-		*
Daniel Cassinelli	45,000	. ,	30,000		15,000	(26)	*
Darshan Anandu	45,000		45,000		102.000	(20)	*
David Buser David P. Lustig II	142,500 15,000		40,500 15,000		102,000	(30)	*
David William Taylor	49,980		49,980		-		*
Dustin & Carol Wilson JTWROS	25,001		25,001		_		*
Elliot Sabbagh	90,000		90,000		_		*
Emil Michaels	40,001		40,001		_		*
Ernest Wickham & Janie A. Wickham JTWROS	15,000		15,000		_		*
Flying Colors Painting Co (37)	65,001		65,001		-		*
Frank Costantino	15,000	. ,	15,000		-		*
Gary B. O'Neal	22,500	(40)	22,500	(40)	-		*
George F. Sandison and Maureen A. Sandison, as							
Trustees of the Sandison Family Trust dtd August 27,							
2013	105,000		105,000		-		*
George P. Bancroft	30,000	. ,	30,000	. ,	-		*
Harsadbhai D. Patel	300,000		300,000		-		*
James Bradley	15,000		15,000		-		*
James D. Wilson Jeff Silver & Andrea Silver JT	15,000 50,100		15,000 50,100		-		*
Johann Onfjord Karason	135,000		75,000		60,000	(10)	*
John Scelfo	100,001		100,001		-	(47)	*
Johnson Revocable Trust DTD Feb 13 2000, Todd	54,000	. ,	30,000		24,000	(53)	
Johnson & Luann Johnson	,	()	,	()	,,	()	*
Jonathan Glen Buckley	15,000	(54)	15,000	(54)	-		*
Karen Kuhn	15,000	(55)	15,000		-		*
Kausthab Kumar	15,000	(56)	15,000	(56)	-		*
Kelly Francis	15,000		15,000		-		*
Kelly Smith	30,000		30,000		-		*
Kevin Dvorak	45,000		45,000		-		*
Margus Ehatamm	24,000	. ,	24,000		-		*
Marmat, LLC (61)	15,000		15,000		-		*
MFC of New York (63)	50,001		50,001		90.057	((7)	*
Michael Engdall & Susan Engdall JTWROS	99,557		10,500		89,057	(6/)	*
Michelle M. Herring Mohammadreza Sadeghi & Shahrzad M. Montazeri	15,000 45,000		15,000 45,000		-		*
JTWROS	45,000	(09)	45,000	(09)	-		*
Nicholas Horniman	22,461	(70)	22,461	(70)	_		*
Nirmal Roy	100,001	. ,	110,001		_		*
Patrick Bradley	30,000		30,000		_		*
Paul Stamatis, Jr.	150,026		150,026		-		*
Prakash Roy	37,500		37,500		-		*
Ramachandra Malya	1,245,000		1,245,000		-		*
Richard Kim	99,990	(76)	99,990	(76)	-		*
Robert C Jamo	25,050		25,050		-		*
Robert Clinton Marsh	7,500		7,500		-		*
Rohith Malya & Niramin Malya JTWROS	15,000	. ,	15,000		-		*
Sanjay Naik & Nandini Anandu JTWROS	15,000	. ,	15,000		-		*
Saumya Sharma & Priyanka Sharma	90,000		90,000		-	(0.0	*
Scott L. Byer	65,499		25,500		39,999	(84)	*
Stephen Card	15,000		15,000		74.060	(00)	*
Úlfar Haraldsson William J. Solloway	124,945 50,001		49,976 50,001		74,969	(88)	*
William Rabetz	93,000		45,000		48,000	(92)	*
William Rauciz	75,000	(70)	73,000	(71)	70,000	(72)	

Walliam N. Pkacah	150,050 (93)	190,050 (94)	50,001 (95)	*
	22,500 (97)	22,500 (97)	-	*
Yaroslav Voznenko				
Patrick Gallagher (98)	256,224 (99)	1,224 (100)	255,000 (101)	
James F Ahern (102)	256,458 (103)	86,220 (104)	170,238 (105)	
Matthew Eitner (106)	254,790 (107)	82,500 (108)	172,290 (109)	
Buff Trust (110)	151,639 (111)	67,187 (111)	84,452 (111)	*
Garnet Trust (112)	151,639 (113)	67,187 (113)	158,371 (113)	*
Laidlaw Holdings Ltd (114)	30,865 (115)	21,238 (115)	9,627 (115)	*
Brian M Robertson (116)	8,718 (117)	4,800 (117)	3,918 (117)	*
Kevin R Wilson (118)	20,093 (119)	720 (119)	19,373 (119)	*
Richard G Michalski (120)	1,726 (121)	180 (121)	1,546 (121)	*
Michael J Murray (122)	4,364 (123)	180 (123)	4,184 (123)	*
Michael J Ahern (124)	5,320 (125)	3,720 (125)	1,600 (125)	*
James Provenzano (126)	1,800 (127)	600 (127)	1,200 (127)	*
Hugh J Marasa Jr (128)	12,824 (129)	7,344 (129)	5,480 (129)	*
Jeffrey R Glazer (130)	1,079 (131)	1,079 (131)	-	*
Devin McCabe (132)	3,000 (133)	2,400 (133)	600 (133)	*
Nicholas Sabellico (134)	4,126 (135)	2,400 (135)	1,726 (135)	*
Hugh Regan (136)	60,329 (137)	42,500 (137)	17,829 (137)	*
Luke Kottke (138)	8,451 (139)	7,746 (139)	705 (139)	*
Francis R Smith (140)	23,905 (141)	16,192 (141)	7,713 (141)	*
Stephen Hamilton (142)	1,500 (143)	1,500 (143)	-	*
Jayson Russo (144)	750 (145)	750 (145)	-	*
Todd Cirella (146)	3,930 (147)	750 (147)	-	*
David Murray (148)	1,500 (149)	1,500 (149)	-	*

^{*} Less than 1%

- (1) In computing the percentage of our common stock beneficially owned by each selling stockholder after the offering, we have assumed the exercise by such selling stockholder of all warrants with respect to those shares being offered by such selling stockholder, and therefore the calculation is based on a number of shares of common stock outstanding comprised of (i) 25,315,052 shares of common stock outstanding as of June 2, 2017 plus (ii) the number of shares offered by the selling stockholder in this offering underlying warrants held by such selling stockholder. The shares offered by one selling stockholder underlying warrants held by such selling stockholder are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other selling stockholder.
- (2) Nachum Stein, chairman of American European Insurance Co, has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (3) Includes 33,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (4) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (5) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (6) Nachum Stein, trustee of N&F 774 Trust, has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (7) Includes 8,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (8) Nachum Stein, manager of Nachum & Feige Stein Foundation, has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (9) Includes 8,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (10) Includes 33,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (11) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (12) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (13) Includes 20,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (14) Includes 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (15) Thomas David Cherry, aka David Cherry, managing director of Cherry Pipes Ltd., has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (16) Includes 372,892 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (17) Includes 233,227 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (18) Includes 139,665 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (19) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (20) Includes 158,321 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (21) Includes 49,994 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (22) Includes 108,327 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (23) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (24) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (25) Includes 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

- (26) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (27) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (28) Includes 47,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (29) Includes 13,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (30) Includes 34,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (31) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (32) Includes 16,660 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (33) Includes 8,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (34) Includes 30,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (35) Includes 13,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (36) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (37) Dustin Wilson, president of Flying Colors Painting Co., has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (38) Includes 21,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (39) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (40) Includes 7,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (41) Includes 35,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (42) Includes 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (43) Includes 100,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (44) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (45) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (46) Includes 16,700 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (47) Includes 45,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (48) Includes 25,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (49) Includes 20,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (50) Includes 33,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (51) Includes 18,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (52) Includes 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (53) Includes 8,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (54) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

- (55) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (56) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (57) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (58) Includes 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (59) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (60) Includes 8,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (61) Anthony V. Milone, manager of Marmat, LLC has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (62) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (63) Nachum Stein, managing director of MFC of New York, has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the account of this selling stockholder.
- (64) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (65) Includes 50,131 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (66) Includes 3,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (67) Includes 46,631 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (68) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (69) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (70) Includes 7,487 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (71) Includes 36,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (72) Includes 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (73) Includes 50,009 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (74) Includes 12,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (75) Includes 415,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (76) Includes 33,330 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (77) Includes 8,350 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (78) Includes 2,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (79) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (80) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (81) Includes 30,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (82) Includes 21,833 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (83) Includes 8,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

- (84) Includes 13,333 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (85) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (86) Includes 41,649 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (87) Includes 16,659 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (88) Includes 24,990 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (89) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (90) Includes 31,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (91) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (92) Includes 16,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (93) Includes 50,417 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (94) Includes 33,750 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (95) Includes 16,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (96) Includes 30,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (97) Includes 7,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (98) Patrick Gallagher is a member of our board of directors and is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (99) Includes (i) options to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock that are currently exercisable, and (ii) 11,224 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (100) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (101) Includes (i) options to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock that are currently exercisable and (ii) 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (102) James Ahern is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (103) Includes 189,791 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (104) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (105) Includes 103,571 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (106) Matthew Eitner is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (107) Includes 188,123 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (108) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (109) Includes 105,623 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (110) Buff Trust is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (111) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

- (112) Garnet Trust is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (113) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (114) Laidlaw Holdings Ltd is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (115) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (116) Brian M Robertson is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (117) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (118) Kevin R Wilson is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (119) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (120) Richard G Michalski is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (121) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (122) Michael J Murray is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (123) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (124) Michael J Ahern is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (125) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (126) James Provenzano is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (127) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (128) Hugh J Marasa Jr is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (129) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (130) Jeffrey R Glazer is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (131) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (132) Devin McCabe is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (133) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (134) Nicholas Sabellico is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (135) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (136) Hugh Regan is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.

- (137) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (138) Luke Kottke is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (139) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (140) Francis R Smith is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (141) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (142) Stephen Hamilton is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (143) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (144) Jayson Russo is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (145) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (146) Todd Cirella is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (147) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
- (148) David Murray is an employee of Laidlaw & Co (UK) Ltd., the placement agent in connection with certain of our private placements.
- (149) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

We have authorized 201,000,000 shares of capital stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of which 200,000,000 are shares of common stock and 1,000,000 are shares of "blank check" preferred stock, of which 200 are authorized as Series A Preferred Stock, 600 are authorized as Series B Preferred Stock and 4,200 are authorized as Series C Preferred Stock. On June 2, 2017, there were 25,315,052 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, 1,070 shares of Series C Preferred Stock issued and outstanding and no shares of Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding.

Holders of Capital Stock

As of June 2, 2017, we had 216 shareholders of record of our common stock, no holders of our Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock, and 22 holders of our Series C Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by stockholders. Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably dividends as may be declared by the board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose. The rights of the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock, as described below, prohibit us from paying cash dividends to our holders of common stock absent the approval of holders representing at least 67% of the outstanding shares of the Series C Preferred Stock, which holders must include Alpha Capital Anstalt, so long as Alpha Capital Anstalt holds not less than \$100,000 of the Series C Preferred Stock. We have not paid any dividends since our inception, and, subject to our obligations to pay dividends to the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock, as described below, we presently anticipate that all earnings, if any, will be retained for development of our business. Even if we are permitted to pay cash dividends in the future, any future disposition of dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other things, our future earnings, operating and financial condition, capital requirements, and other factors.

Each share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at meetings of stockholders. The holders are not permitted to vote their shares cumulatively. Accordingly, the stockholders of our common stock who hold, in the aggregate, more than fifty percent of the total voting rights can elect all of our directors and, in such event, the holders of the remaining minority shares will not be able to elect any of such directors. The vote of the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon is sufficient to authorize, affirm, ratify or consent to such act or action, except as otherwise provided by law.

Holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights or other subscription rights, conversion rights, redemption or sinking fund provisions. Subject to the rights of the holders of our preferred stock, upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of our common stock will be entitled to share ratably in the net assets legally available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other liabilities. There are no provisions in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or our By-laws that would prevent or delay a change in our control.

Preferred Stock

There are presently no issued and outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stock.

Each share of the Series C Preferred Stock is entitled to a nine percent (9%) annual dividend on the \$1,000 per share stated value. Unless the Series C Preferred Stock is converted into shares of common stock, the dividends shall accrue and be payable in cash or, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, in pay-in-kind shares. Such cumulative dividends are payable quarterly, commencing on September 30, 2013 and on each conversion date. The terms of the Series C Preferred Stock were amended on March 27, 2014 and August 15, 2014. The description herein reflects such amended terms.

In the event that

- (i) we fail to, or announce our intention not to, deliver common stock share certificates upon conversion of our Series C Preferred Stock prior to the seventh trading day after such shares are required to be delivered,
- (ii) we fail for any reason to pay in full the amount of cash due pursuant to our failure to deliver common stock share certificates upon conversion of our Series C Preferred Stock within five calendar days after notice therefor is delivered,
- (iii) we fail to have available a sufficient number of authorized and unreserved shares of common stock to issue upon a conversion of our Series C Preferred Stock,
- (iv) we fail to observe or perform any other covenant, agreement or warranty contained in, or otherwise commit any breach of our obligations under, the securities purchase agreement, the registration rights agreement, the certificate of designation or the warrants entered into pursuant to the private placement transaction for our Series C Preferred Stock, which failure or breach could have a material adverse effect, and such failure or breach is not cured within 30 calendar days after written notice was delivered,
- (v) we are party to a change of control transaction,
- (vi) we file for bankruptcy or a similar arrangement or are adjudicated insolvent,
- (vii) we are subject to a judgment, including an arbitration award against us, of greater than \$100,000, and such judgment remains unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of 45 calendar days,

the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are entitled, among other rights, to redeem their shares of Series C Preferred Stock at any time for greater than their stated value or increase the dividend rate on their shares of Series C Preferred Stock to 18%.

In the event of our liquidation or winding up of affairs, the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to a liquidation preference of the stated value plus any accrued but unpaid dividends or any other fees due the holder. The shares of the Series C Preferred Stock rank senior to the rights of the common stock and all other securities exercisable or convertible into shares of common stock.

Any holder of Series C Preferred Stock is entitled at any time to convert any whole or partial number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock at a price of \$1.50 per share, subject to the beneficial ownership limitation described below. The Series C Preferred Stock is subject to full ratchet anti-dilution price protection upon the issuance of equity or equity-linked securities at an effective common stock purchase price of less than \$1.50 per share as well as other customary anti-dilution protection.

In the event we issue any equity or equity-linked securities with terms more favorable than those of the Series C Preferred Stock, any holder of the Series C Preferred Stock may request to amend the terms of such holder's Series C Preferred Stock to be equivalent to the terms of such issued equity or equity-linked securities, subject to certain exempted issuances.

The holders of the Series C Preferred Stock vote together with the holders of our common stock on an as-converted basis, but may not vote the Series C Preferred Stock in excess of the beneficial ownership limitation of the Series C Preferred Stock. The beneficial ownership limitation is 4.99% of our then outstanding shares of common stock following such conversion or exercise, which may be increased to up to 9.99% of our then outstanding shares of common stock following such conversion or exercise upon the request of an individual holder. The beneficial ownership limitation is determined on an individual holder basis, such that the as-converted number of shares of one holder is not included in the shares outstanding when calculating the limitation for a different holder. In addition, absent the approval of holders representing at least 67% of the outstanding shares of the Series C Preferred Stock, which holders must include Alpha Capital Anstalt, so long as Alpha Capital Anstalt holds not less than \$100,000 of Series C Preferred Stock, we may not (i) increase the number of authorized shares of preferred stock, (ii) amend our charter documents, including the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock, in any manner adverse to the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock, including authorizing or creating any class of stock ranking senior to, or otherwise pari passu with, the shares of Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends, redemption or distribution of assets upon a liquidation, or (iii) perform certain covenants, including:

- incur additional indebtedness;
- permit liens on assets;
- repay, repurchase or otherwise acquire more than a de minimis number of shares of capital stock;
- pay cash dividends to our stockholders; and
- engage in transactions with affiliates.

Warrant

Five-Year Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our Series C Preferred Stock, on February through July 2013, we issued to the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,330,629 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$2.61 per share. The warrants contain full ratchet anti-dilution price protection upon the issuance of equity or equity-linked securities at an effective common stock purchase price of less than \$2.61 per share as well as other customary anti-dilution protection. The warrants are exercisable for cash; or if at any time after six months from the issuance date, there is no effective registration statement registering the resale, or no current prospectus available for the resale, of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants, the warrants may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise". As a result of the full-ratchet anti-dilution protection provision of the warrants, the exercise price of the warrants was subsequently decreased from \$2.61 per share to \$1.50 per share and the aggregate number of shares issuable under the warrants was increased to 2,315,301.

Five-Year Amendment Warrants

As consideration for (i) extending the termination date of the securities purchase agreement and (ii) extending the filing and effectiveness dates for the filing of the registration statement pursuant to the registration rights agreement related to our Series C Preferred Stock, on July 15, 2013, we issued to the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock that purchased shares of our Series C Preferred Stock prior to the July 15, 2013 closing, five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 289,730 shares of common stock. The terms of these warrants are identical to the Five-Year Warrants described above. As a result of the full-ratchet anti-dilution protection provision of the warrants, the exercise price of the warrants subsequently decreased from \$2.61 per share to \$1.50 per share and the aggregate number of shares issuable under the warrants was increased to 504,130.

October 2013 Five-Year Amendment Warrants

As consideration for amending the terms of the securities purchase agreement to permit our private placement of our common stock and warrants in December 2013, on October 14, 2013, we issued to the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 332,684 shares of common stock. The terms of these warrants are identical to the Five-Year Warrants described above. As a result of the full-ratchet anti-dilution protection provision of the warrants, the exercise price of the warrants was subsequently decreased from \$2.61 per share to \$1.50 per share and the aggregate number of shares issuable under the warrants was increased to 578,870.

December 2013 Five-Year Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in December 2013 and January 2014, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 177,947 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$3.67 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections. The warrants are exercisable for cash; or if at any time after six months from the issuance date, there is no effective registration statement registering the resale, or no current prospectus available for the resale, of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants, the warrants may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

April 2014 Five-Year Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in April 2014, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 114,880 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$3.75 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections. The warrants are exercisable for cash; or if at any time after six months from the issuance date, there is no effective registration statement registering the resale, or no current prospectus available for the resale, of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants, the warrants may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

August 2014 Five-Year Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in August and September 2014, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 190,600 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$2.75 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections. The warrants are exercisable for cash; or if at any time after six months from the issuance date, there is no effective registration statement registering the resale, or no current prospectus available for the resale, of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants, the warrants may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

December 2014 Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in December 2014 and January, February and March 2015, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement five-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 801,800 shares of common stock. The warrants are exercisable at \$3.75 per share and expire March 31, 2020. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections. The warrants are exercisable for cash; or if at any time after six months from the issuance date, there is no effective registration statement registering the resale, or no current prospectus available for the resale, of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants, the warrants may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

October 2015 Three-Year Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in October, November and December 2015 and February, March and April 2016, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,501,513 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.95 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash.

May 2016 Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in June 2016, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 38,572 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$2.10 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash. In February 2017, we exchanged these warrants for warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 45,001 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50, with all other terms and conditions the same.

August 2016 Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in August and September 2016, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 187,513 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.95 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash.

October 2016 Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in October, November and December 2016 and February and March 2017, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,449,991 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash.

April 2017 Warrants

In connection with the private placement of our common stock in April and May 2017, we issued to the investors participating in the private placement three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 294,967 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash.

Mayo Warrant

In March 2017, we issued to Mayo Clinic Ventures three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 630,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50 per share in connection with a know-how licensing agreement with Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash.

Series A Placement Agent Warrant

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with the private placement of Series A Preferred Stock, on January 18, 2013, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. a seven-year warrant to purchase up to 35,076 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.84 per share. The terms of this warrant are otherwise identical to the Five-Year Warrants described above.

Series B Placement Agent Warrant

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with the private placement of Series B Preferred Stock, on January 18, 2013, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. a seven-year warrant to purchase up to 30,755 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$2.02 per share. The terms of this warrant are otherwise identical to the Five-Year Warrants described above.

Series C Placement Agent Warrant

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with the private placement of Series C Preferred Stock, on July 15, 2013, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. a warrant to purchase up to 177,057 shares of common stock. The terms of this warrant are identical to the Five-Year Warrants described above. As a result of the full-ratchet anti-dilution protection provision of the warrants, the exercise price of the warrants subsequently decreased from \$2.61 per share to \$1.50 per share and the aggregate number of shares issuable under the warrants was increased to 308,079.

Par Value Warrant

As consideration for providing general financial advisory services, on January 7, 2013, we issued to Jamess Capital Group LLC a seven-year warrant to purchase up to 383,320 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$0.001 per share. The terms of this warrant are otherwise identical to the Five-Year Warrants described above.

Consultant Warrant

As consideration for providing general financial advisory services, on August 17, 2015, we issued Alere Financial Partners, LLC a three-year warrant to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock each at an exercise price of \$2.00 per share and a three-year warrant to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock each at an exercise price of \$2.50 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash or may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

Common Stock Placement Agent Warrants

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with a private placement of our common stock, on December 31, 2013 and January 31, 2014, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 40,327 shares of common stock. The terms of this warrant are identical to the December 2013 Five-Year Warrants described above.

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with a private placement of our common stock, on April 4 and April 30, 2014, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 22,976 shares of common stock. The terms of this warrant are identical to the April 2014 Five-Year Warrants described above.

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with a private placement of our common stock, on August 15 and September 12, 2014, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 38,120 shares of common stock. The terms of this warrant are identical to the August 2014 Five-Year Warrants described above.

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with a private placement of our common stock, between December 2014 and March 2015, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 400,900 shares of common stock. The terms of this warrant are identical to the December 2014 Warrants described above.

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with a private placement of our common stock, between October 2015 and April 2016, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 232,960 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50 per share. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash or may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

As consideration for serving as our placement agent in connection with a private placement of our common stock, between October 2016 and March 2017, we issued to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 186,957 shares of common stock. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution protections and are exercisable for cash or may be exercised by means of a "cashless exercise".

Registration Rights

2013 Series C Private Placement

On February 6, 2013, in connection with our private placement of our Series C Preferred Stock and warrants, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the purchasers pursuant to which we agreed to provide certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issuable upon conversion of our Series C Preferred Stock and exercise of the warrants issued to holders of our Series C Preferred Stock. Specifically, we agreed to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series C Preferred Stock and exercise of the warrants on or before July 22, 2013 and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the event that the registration statement is not reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and by November 22, 2013 in the event that the registration statement is reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments.

If (i) the registration statement is not filed by July 22, 2013, (ii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within five trading days after we are notified that registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the case of a no review, (iii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission by November 22, 2013 in the case of a review by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to which the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments or (iv) the registration statement ceases to remain continuously effective for more than 20 consecutive calendar days or more than an aggregate of 45 calendar days during any 12-month period after its first effective date, then we are subject to liquidated damage payments to the holders of the shares sold in the private placement in an amount equal to 0.25% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such purchasers per month of delinquency. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreement shall be 3% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers, and (ii) if any partial amount of liquidated damages remains unpaid for more than seven days, we shall pay interest of 18% per annum, accruing daily, on such unpaid amount.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreement, we must maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement from the effective date until the date on which all securities registered under the registration statement have been sold, or are otherwise able to be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions, subject to the our right to suspend or defer the use of the registration statement in certain events.

We filed a registration statement on July 22, 2013, which was originally declared effective on June 23, 2014. We (i) filed a post-effective amendment to the registration statement on June 30, 2015, which was declared effective on July 13, 2015, to update the registration statement to include audited financial statements for the 2014 fiscal year, (ii) filed a post-effective amendment to the registration statement on May 27, 2016, which was declared effective on June 13, 2016, to update the registration statement to include audited financial statements for the 2015 fiscal year, and (iii) filed a post-effective amendment to the registration statement on May 26, 2017, which was declared effective on June 5, 2017, to update the registration statement to incorporate by reference audited financials for the 2016 fiscal year, to satisfy the requirements under the registration rights agreement with the purchasers of our Series C Preferred Stock and warrants.

On each of December 31, 2013, April 4, 2014, August 15, 2014, and December 19, 2014, in connection with private placements of our common stock and warrants, we entered into registration rights agreements with the purchasers in such private placements pursuant to which we agreed to provide certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issued to the investors participating in such private placements and the common stock issuable upon exercise of the related warrants issued to such investors. Specifically, we agreed to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of the shares of common stock issued pursuant to the private placements and issuable upon the exercise of the warrants within 45 days of the termination date of such private placements and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the event that the registration statement is not reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, within 30 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and within 180 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the event that the registration statement is reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments.

If (i) the registration statement is not filed within 45 days of the applicable termination date, (ii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 30 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the case of a no review, (iii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 180 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the case of a review by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to which the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments or (iv) the registration statement ceases to remain continuously effective for more than 10 consecutive calendar days or more than an aggregate of 15 calendar days during any 12-month period after its first effective date, then we are subject to liquidated damage payments to the holders of the shares sold in the private placement in an amount equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such purchasers per month of delinquency, provided, however, that we will not be required to make any payments if any of the foregoing events occurred at such time that all securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144 (without volume restrictions or current public information requirements) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and provided, further, that we will not be required to make any liquidated damage payments with respect to any securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement that we are unable to register due to limits imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission's interpretation of Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreements dated December 31, 2013, April 4, 2014 and August 15, 2014 shall be 3% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers, (ii) the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreement dated December 19, 2014 shall be 6% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers and (iii) if any partial amount of liquidated damages remains unpaid for more than seven days, we shall pay interest of 18% per annum, accruing daily, on such unpaid amount.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreements, we must maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement from the effective date until the date on which all securities registered under the registration statement have been sold, or are otherwise able to be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions and without the requirement to be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144, subject to the our right to suspend or defer the use of the registration statement in certain events.

We filed a registration statement on May 20, 2015, which was originally declared effective on June 12, 2015. We filed a post-effective amendment to the registration statement on June 17, 2016, which was declared effective on July 1, 2016, to update the registration statement to include audited financial statements for the 2015 fiscal year, to satisfy the requirements under the registration rights agreement with the purchasers of our common stock and warrants. We filed a post-effective amendment to the registration statement on May 26, 2017, which was declared effective on June 5, 2017, to update the registration statement to incorporate by reference audited financial statements for the 2016 fiscal year, to satisfy the requirements under the registration rights agreement with the purchasers of our common stock and warrants.

2015 Private Placement

On October 23, 2015, in connection concurrent and related private placements of our common stock and warrants, we entered into registration rights agreements with the purchasers in such private placements pursuant to which we agreed to provide certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issued to the investors participating in such private placements and the common stock issuable upon exercise of the related warrants issued such investors. Specifically, we agreed to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of the shares of common stock issued pursuant to the private placement and issuable upon the exercise of the warrants within 45 days of the final termination date of such private placements and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the event that the registration statement is not reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, within 10 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and within 120 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the event that the registration statement is reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments.

If (i) the registration statement is not filed within 45 days of the applicable termination date, (ii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 10 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the case of a no review, (iii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the case of a review by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to which the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments or (iv) the registration statement ceases to remain continuously effective for more than 10 consecutive calendar days or more than an aggregate of 15 calendar days during any 12-month period after its first effective date, then we are subject to liquidated damage payments to the holders of the shares sold in the private placement in an amount equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such purchasers per month of delinquency, provided, however, that we will not be required to make any payments if any of the foregoing events occurred at such time that all securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144 (without volume restrictions or current public information requirements) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and provided, further, that we will not be required to make any liquidated damage payments with respect to any securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement that we are unable to register due to limits imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission's interpretation of Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreement dated October 23, 2015 shall be 6% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers and (ii) if any partial amount of liquidated damages remains unpaid for more than seven days, we shall pay interest of 18% per annum, accruing daily, on such unpaid amount.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreements, we must maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement from the effective date until the first to occur of (i) the date that is one year from the date the registration statement is declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission and (ii) the date on which all securities registered under the registration statement have been sold, or are otherwise able to be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions and without the requirement to be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144, subject to the our right to suspend or defer the use of the registration statement in certain events

We filed a registration statement on August 2, 2016, which was originally declared effective on August 9, 2016. We filed a post-effective amendment to the registration statement on May 22, 2017, which was declared effective on May 31, 2017, to update the registration statement to incorporate by reference audited financial statements for the 2016 fiscal year, to satisfy the requirements under the registration rights agreement with the purchasers of our common stock and warrants.

2016 Private Placement

On October 28, 2016 in connection concurrent and related private placements of our common stock and warrants, we entered into registration rights agreements with the purchasers in such private placements pursuant to which we agreed to provide certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issued to the investors participating in such private placements and the common stock issuable upon exercise of the related warrants issued to such investors. Specifically, we agreed to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of the shares of common stock issued pursuant to the private placement and issuable upon the exercise of the warrants within 45 days of the final termination date of such private placements and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the event that the registration statement is not reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, within 10 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and within 120 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the event that the registration statement is reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments

If (i) the registration statement is not filed within 45 days of the applicable termination date, (ii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 10 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the case of a no review, (iii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the case of a review by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to which the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments or (iv) the registration statement ceases to remain continuously effective for more than 10 consecutive calendar days or more than an aggregate of 15 calendar days during any 12-month period after its first effective date, then we are subject to liquidated damage payments to the holders of the shares sold in the private placement in an amount equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such purchasers per month of delinquency, provided, however, that we will not be required to make any payments if any of the foregoing events occurred at such time that all securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144 (without volume restrictions or current public information requirements) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and provided, further, that we will not be required to make any liquidated damage payments with respect to any securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement that we are unable to register due to limits imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission's interpretation of Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreement dated October 28, 2016 shall be 6% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers and (ii) if any partial amount of liquidated damages remains unpaid for more than seven days, we shall pay interest of 18% per annum, accruing daily, on such unpaid amount.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreements, we must maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement from the effective date until the first to occur of (i) the date that is one year from the date the registration statement is declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission and (ii) the date on which all securities registered under the registration statement have been sold, or are otherwise able to be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions and without the requirement to be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144, subject to the our right to suspend or defer the use of the registration statement in certain events.

2017 Private Placement

On April 6, 2017, in connection concurrent and related private placements of our common stock and warrants, we entered into registration rights agreements with the purchasers in such private placements pursuant to which we agreed to provide certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issued to the investors participating in such private placements and the common stock issuable upon exercise of the related warrants issued to such investors. Specifically, we agreed to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of the shares of common stock issued pursuant to the private placement and issuable upon the exercise of the warrants within 45 days of the final termination date of such private placements and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the event that the registration statement is not reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, within 10 calendar days after we are notified that the registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and within 120 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the event that the registration statement is reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments.

If (i) the registration statement is not filed within 45 days of the applicable termination date, (ii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 10 calendar days after we are notified that registration statement is not being reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the case of a no review, (iii) the registration statement is not declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 calendar days of the initial filing date of the registration statement in the case of a review by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to which the Securities and Exchange Commission issues comments or (iv) the registration statement ceases to remain continuously effective for more than 10 consecutive calendar days or more than an aggregate of 15 calendar days during any 12-month period after its first effective date, then we are subject to liquidated damage payments to the holders of the shares sold in the private placement in an amount equal to 1.0% of the aggregate purchase price paid by such purchasers per month of delinquency, provided, however, that we will not be required to make any payments if any of the foregoing events occurred at such time that all securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144 (without volume restrictions or current public information requirements) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and provided, further, that we will not be required to make any liquidated damage payments with respect to any securities registered or to be registered in the registration statement that we are unable to register due to limits imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission's interpretation of Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the maximum aggregate liquidated damages due under the registration rights agreement dated April 6, 2017 shall be 6% of the aggregate purchase price paid by the purchasers and (ii) if any partial amount of liquidated damages remains unpaid for more than seven days, we shall pay interest of 18% per annum, accruing daily, on such unpaid amount.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreements, we must maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement from the effective date until the first to occur of (i) the date that is one year from the date the registration statement is declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission and (ii) the date on which all securities registered under the registration statement have been sold, or are otherwise able to be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions and without the requirement to be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144, subject to the our right to suspend or defer the use of the registration statement in certain events.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Law and Provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, in general, prohibits a business combination between a corporation and an interested stockholder within three years of the time such stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:

- prior to such time the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
- upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, exclusive of shares owned by directors who are also officers and by certain employee stock plans; or
- at or subsequent to such time, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized by the affirmative vote at a stockholders' meeting of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

The term "business combination" is defined to include, among other transactions between an interested stockholder and a corporation or any direct or indirect majority owned subsidiary thereof: a merger or consolidation; a sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (including as part of a dissolution) of assets having an aggregate market value equal to 10% or more of either the aggregate market value of all assets of the corporation on a consolidated basis or the aggregate market value of all the outstanding stock of the corporation; certain transactions that would result in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any of its stock to the interested stockholder; certain transactions that would increase the interested stockholder's proportionate share ownership of the stock of any class or series of the corporation or such subsidiary; and any receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation or any such subsidiary.

In general, Section 203 defines an "interested stockholder" as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with, or controlling, or controlled by, the entity or person. The term "owner" is broadly defined to include any person that individually, with or through that person's affiliates or associates, among other things, beneficially owns the stock, or has the right to acquire the stock, whether or not the right is immediately exercisable, under any agreement or understanding or upon the exercise of warrants or options or otherwise or has the right to vote the stock under any agreement or understanding, or has an agreement or understanding with the beneficial owner of the stock for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of the stock.

The restrictions in Section 203 do not apply to corporations that have elected, in the manner provided in Section 203, not to be subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law or, with certain exceptions, which do not have a class of voting stock that is listed on a national securities exchange or held of record by more than 2,000 stockholders. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws do not opt out of Section 203.

Section 203 could delay or prohibit mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts with respect to us and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire us even though such a transaction may offer our stockholders the opportunity to sell their stock at a price above the prevailing market price.

Provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws may delay or discourage transactions involving an actual or potential change in our control or change in our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares, or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests. Therefore, these provisions could adversely affect the price of our common stock. Among other things, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws:

- do not provide for cumulative voting rights (therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose);
- provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, chairman, chief executive officer, president or secretary; and
- provide advance notice provisions with which a stockholder who wishes to nominate a director or propose other business to be considered at a stockholder meeting must comply.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Pursuant to Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation has the power to indemnify its directors and officers against expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with a third-party action, other than a derivative action, and against expenses actually and reasonably incurred in the defense or settlement of a derivative action, provided that there is a determination that the individual acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the individual's conduct was unlawful. Such determination will be made, in the case of an individual who is a director or officer at the time of such determination:

- by a majority of the disinterested directors, even though less than a quorum;
- by a committee of such directors designated by a majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum;
- if there are no disinterested directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel; or
- by a majority vote of the stockholders, at a meeting at which a quorum is present.

Without court approval, however, no indemnification may be made in respect of any derivative action in which such individual is adjudged liable to the corporation.

The Delaware General Corporation Law requires indemnification of directors and officers for expenses relating to a successful defense on the merits or otherwise of a derivative or third-party action.

The Delaware General Corporation Law permits a corporation to advance expenses relating to the defense of any proceeding to directors and officers contingent upon such individuals' commitment to repay any advances unless it is determined ultimately that such individuals are entitled to be indemnified.

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, the rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses provided in the law are non-exclusive, in that, subject to public policy issues, indemnification and advancement of expenses beyond that provided by statute may be provided by law, agreement, vote of stockholders, disinterested directors or otherwise.

Limitation of Personal Liability of Directors

The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that a corporation's certificate of incorporation may include a provision limiting the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director. However, no such provision can eliminate or limit the liability of a director for:

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that our directors will not be personally liable to us or any of our stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Disclosure of Commission Position on Indemnification for Securities Act Liabilities

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to our directors, officers and persons controlling us, we have been advised that it is the Securities and Exchange Commission's opinion that such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is, therefore, unenforceable.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Each selling stockholder (the "Selling Stockholders") of the securities and any of their pledgees, assignees and successors-ininterest may, from time to time, sell any or all of their securities covered hereby on the OTCQB or any other stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the securities are traded or in private transactions. These sales may be at fixed or negotiated prices. A Selling Stockholder may use any one or more of the following methods when selling securities:

- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;
- block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and resell a portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;
- purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;
- an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;
- privately negotiated transactions;
- settlement of short sales entered into after the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part;
- In transactions through broker-dealers that agree with the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of such shares at a stipulated price per share;
- through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
- a combination of any such methods of sale; or
- any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.

The Selling Stockholders may also sell securities under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, if available, rather than under this prospectus.

Broker-dealers engaged by the Selling Stockholders may arrange for other brokers-dealers to participate in sales. Broker-dealers may receive commissions or discounts from the Selling Stockholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent for the purchaser of securities, from the purchaser) in amounts to be negotiated, but, except as set forth in a supplement to this Prospectus, in the case of an agency transaction not in excess of a customary brokerage commission in compliance with FINRA Rule 2440; and in the case of a principal transaction a markup or markdown in compliance with FINRA IM-2440.

In connection with the sale of the securities or interests therein, the Selling Stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the securities in the course of hedging the positions they assume. The Selling Stockholders may also sell securities short and deliver these securities to close out their short positions, or loan or pledge the securities to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these securities. The Selling Stockholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or create one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial institution of securities offered by this prospectus, which securities such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The Selling Stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the securities may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales. In such event, any commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale of the securities purchased by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act. Each Selling Stockholder has informed us that it does not have any written or oral agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities. In no event shall any broker-dealer receive fees, commissions and markups which, in the aggregate, would exceed eight percent (8%).

We are required to pay certain fees and expenses incurred by us incident to the registration of the securities. We have agreed to indemnify the Selling Stockholders against certain losses, claims, damages and liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

Because Selling Stockholders may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act, they will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act including Rule 172 thereunder. In addition, any securities covered by this prospectus which qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 rather than under this prospectus. The Selling Stockholders have advised us that there is no underwriter or coordinating broker acting in connection with the proposed sale of the resale securities by the Selling Stockholders.

We agreed to keep this prospectus effective until the earlier of (i) the date on which the securities may be resold by the Selling Stockholders without registration and without regard to any volume or manner-of-sale limitations by reason of Rule 144, without the requirement for us to be in compliance with the current public information under Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other rule of similar effect or (ii) the date on which all of the securities have been sold pursuant to this prospectus or Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other rule of similar effect. The resale securities will be sold only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers if required under applicable state securities laws. In addition, in certain states, the resale securities covered hereby may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in the applicable state or an exemption from the registration or qualification requirement is available and is complied with.

Under applicable rules and regulations under the Exchange Act, any person engaged in the distribution of the resale securities may not simultaneously engage in market making activities with respect to the common stock for the applicable restricted period, as defined in Regulation M, prior to the commencement of the distribution. In addition, the Selling Stockholders will be subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, including Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of securities of the common stock by the Selling Stockholders or any other person. We will make copies of this prospectus available to the Selling Stockholders and have informed them of the need to deliver a copy of this prospectus to each purchaser at or prior to the time of the sale (including by compliance with Rule 172 under the Securities Act).

LEGAL MATTERS

Haynes and Boone, LLP, New York, New York, will pass upon the validity of the shares of our common stock offered by the selling stockholders under this prospectus.

MATERIAL CHANGES

There have been no material changes to us since December 31, 2016 that have not been described in a Form 10-Q, a Current Report on Form 8-K or in this prospectus that should be included.

EXPERTS

Our financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for the years then ended included in this prospectus have been audited by Liggett & Webb, P.A., an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report appearing in the registration statement, and are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon its authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form S-1, together with any amendments and related exhibits, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, with respect to our shares of common stock offered by this prospectus. The registration statement contains additional information about us and our shares of common stock that the selling stockholders are offering in this prospectus.

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our Securities and Exchange Commission filings are available to the public over the Internet at the Securities and Exchange Commission's website at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the Securities and Exchange Commission's public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms and their copy charges. Access to those electronic filings is available as soon as practicable after filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may also request a copy of those filings, excluding exhibits, from us at no cost. Any such request should be addressed to us at: 8441 Wayzata Blvd., Suite 240, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55426, Attention: Kenneth L. Londoner, Executive Chairman.

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

The Securities and Exchange Commission allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we have filed with it, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information we incorporate by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and later information that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future documents (excluding information furnished pursuant to Items 2.02 and 7.01 of Form 8-K) we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, subsequent to the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of the offering:

- Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2017, as amended on April 11, 2017;
- Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2017, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 22, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 17, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 21, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 6, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 24, 2017;
- Our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2, 2017; and
- The description of our common stock contained in Form 8-A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 20, 2015, and any amendment or report filed for the purpose of updating such description..

We also incorporate by reference any future filings, other than current reports furnished under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K and exhibits filed on such form that are related to such items, made with the Securities Exchange Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, in each case, other than those documents or the portions of those documents deemed to be furnished and not filed in accordance with SEC rules, until the offering of the securities under the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part is terminated or completed.

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone else to provide you with different information. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date of this prospectus or the date of the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

We will provide without charge to each person to whom a copy of this prospectus is delivered, upon written or oral request, a copy of any or all of the information that has been incorporated by reference in this prospectus but not delivered with this prospectus (other than an exhibit to these filings, unless we have specifically incorporated that exhibit by reference in this prospectus). Any such request should be addressed to us at:

BioSig Technologies, Inc. Attention: Kenneth L. Londoner, Executive Chairman 8441 Wayzata Blvd., Suite 240 Minneapolis, MN 55426 Telephone: (763)-999-7330

You may also access the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus through our website at www.biosigtech.com. Except for the specific incorporated documents listed above, no information available on or through our website shall be deemed to be incorporated in this prospectus or the registration statement of which it forms a part.



BioSig Technologies, Inc.

Up to 3,242,668 Shares of Common Stock and up to 2,041,255 Shares of Common Stock Underlying Warrants

PROSPECTUS

, 2017

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

We are paying all of the selling stockholders' expenses related to this offering, except that the selling stockholders will pay any applicable underwriting discounts and commissions. The fees and expenses payable by us in connection with this Registration Statement are estimated as follows:

Securities and Exchange Commission Registration Fee	\$ 820.62
Accounting Fees and Expenses	\$ 3,500.00
Legal Fees and Expenses	\$ 15,000.00
Printing Expenses	\$ None
Miscellaneous Fees and Expenses	\$ None
Total	\$ 19,320.62

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware provides, in general, that a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, as we are, may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding (other than a derivative action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person's conduct was unlawful. In the case of a derivative action, a Delaware corporation may indemnify any such person against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification will be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person will have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or any other court in which such action was brought determines such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses.

We are also permitted to apply for, and currently maintain, insurance on behalf of any director, officer, employee or other agent for liability arising out of his actions, whether or not the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware would permit indemnification.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

On April 4, 2014 and April 30, 2014, in two separate closings, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with twenty-eight accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 229,760 shares of our common stock and five-year warrants to purchase 114,880 shares of our common stock for aggregate cash proceeds of \$574,400. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On April 30, 2014, in connection with the above described private placement, we issued a five-year warrant to purchase up to 22,976 shares of common stock upon the same terms as the warrants in the above described private placement to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd., our placement agent in the private placement. The warrant was not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and was offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state securities laws, which exempt transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. was an accredited investor (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) at the time of the private placement.

On August 15, 2014 and September 12, 2014, in two separate closing, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with 23 accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 381,200 shares of our common stock and five-year warrants to purchase 190,600 shares of our common stock for aggregate cash proceeds of \$953,000. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On August 15, 2014 and September 12, 2014, in connection with the above described private placement, we issued a warrant to purchase up to an aggregate of 38,120 shares of common stock upon the same terms as the warrants in the above described private placement to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd., our placement agent in the private placement. The warrant was not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and was offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state securities laws, which exempt transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. was an accredited investor (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) at the time of the private placement.

On December 19, 2014, December 30, 2014, January 23, 2015, February 10, 2015, February 27, 2015 and March 31, 2015, in six separate closing, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with 102 accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 1,603,600 shares of our common stock, "A" warrants expiring July 31, 2015 to purchase 1,603,600 shares of our common stock and "B" warrants expiring March 21, 2020 to purchase 801,800 shares of our common stock for aggregate cash proceeds of \$4,009,000. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On March 31, 2015, in connection with the above described private placement, we issued a warrant to purchase up to 400,900 shares of common stock upon the same terms as the "B" warrants in the above described private placement to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd., our placement agent in the private placement. The warrant was not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and was offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state securities laws, which exempt transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. was an accredited investor (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) at the time of the private placement.

On May 11, 2015, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with Alpha Capital Anstalt and a securities purchase agreement with Brio Capital Master Fund Ltd., pursuant to which we issued 450 shares of our Series C Preferred Stock and five-year warrants to purchase 374,641 shares of our common stock for aggregate cash proceeds of \$450,000. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On August 17, 2015, as consideration for providing general financial advisory services, we issued Alere Financial Partners, LLC a three-year warrant to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock each at an exercise price of \$2.00 and a three-year warrant to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock each at an exercise price of \$2.50 per share. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On October 23, 2015, October 29, 2015, November 18, 2015, December 18, 2015, December 22, 2015, February 9, 2016, March 9, 2016, April 1, 2016, April 19, 2016 and April 29, 2016, in ten separate closings, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with 49 accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 3,003,016 shares of our common stock and three-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 1,501,513 shares of our common stock for aggregate cash proceeds of approximately \$4,504,516. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On October 23, 2015, October 29, 2015, November 18, 2015, December 18, 2015, December 22, 2015, February 9, 2016, March 9, 2016, April 1, 2016, April 19, 2016 and April 29, 2016, in connection with the above described private placement, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 232,960 shares of common stock exercisable for cash or by means of a cashless exercise at a price of \$1.50 per share, and the same other terms as the warrants in the above described private placement to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd., our placement agent in the private placement. The warrant was not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and was offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state securities laws, which exempt transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. was an accredited investor (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) at the time of the private placement.

On June 1, 2016, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with 3 accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 77,144 shares of our common stock and three-year warrants to purchase up to 38,572 shares of our common stock, exercisable at \$2.10 per share and expiring June 1, 2019, in exchange for aggregate cash proceeds of approximately \$135,000. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On September 1, 2016, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 305,026 shares of our common stock and 152,513 warrants to purchase one share of our common stock, exercisable at a price of \$1.95 per share and expiring August 30, 2019, in exchange for aggregate consideration of \$431,549, net of \$25,990 in expenses. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On September 19, 2016, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 70,000 shares of our common stock and 35,000 warrants to purchase one share of our common stock, exercisable at a price of \$1.95 per share and expiring September 19, 2019, in exchange for aggregate consideration of \$98,533, net of \$6,467 in expenses. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On October 28, 2016, November 23, 2016, December 16, 2016, December 22, 2016, February 10, 2017, March 10, 2017 and March 31, 2017, in seven separate closings, we entered into a unit purchase agreement with certain accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued an aggregate of 2,899,974 units, which consisted of, in the aggregate, 2,899,974 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 1,449,987 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50 per share, in exchange for aggregate gross proceeds of \$3,972,199, after financing costs of \$377,754. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On October 28, 2016, November 23, 2016, December 16, 2016, December 22, 2016, February 10, 2017, March 10, 2017 and March 31, 2017, in connection with the above described private placement, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 186,957 shares of common stock exercisable for cash or by means of a cashless exercise at a price of \$1.50 per share expiring January 13, 2020, and the same other terms as the warrants in the above described private placement to Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd., our placement agent in the private placement. The warrant was not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and was offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state securities laws, which exempt transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Laidlaw & Company (UK) Ltd. was an accredited investor (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) at the time of the private placement.

In March 2017, we issued to Mayo Clinic Ventures three-year warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 630,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.50 per share in connection with a know-how licensing agreement with Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. The securities were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On April 6, 2017, we entered into a unit purchase agreement with certain accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 376,667 shares of our common stock and 188,334 warrants to purchase one share of our common stock, exercisable at a price of \$1.50 per share and expiring April 6, 2020, in exchange for aggregate consideration of \$565,000. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On April 17, 2017, we entered into a unit purchase agreement with certain accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 199,932 shares of our common stock and 99,966 warrants to purchase one share of our common stock, exercisable at a price of \$1.50 per share and expiring April 6, 2020, in exchange for aggregate consideration of \$299,898. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

On May 5, 2017, we entered into a unit purchase agreement with certain accredited investors (as defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), pursuant to which we issued 13,334 shares of our common stock and 6,667 warrants to purchase one share of our common stock, exercisable at a price of \$1.50 per share and expiring May 5, 2020, in exchange for aggregate consideration of \$20,000. The securities sold in this offering were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state, and were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provided by Section 4(2) and Regulation D (Rule 506) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Exhibit No.	Description
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
3.2	Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
3.3	Certificate of Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
3.4	Certificate of Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Form S-1/A filed on January 21, 2014)
3.5	Certificate of Fourth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the Form S-1/A filed on March 28, 2014)
3.6	Certificate of Fifth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2014)
3.7	Certificate of Sixth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed on November 25, 2016)
3.8	Bylaws of BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
5.1	Opinion of Haynes and Boone, LLP (filed herewith)
10.1	BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.2	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.3	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated September 19, 2011, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.4	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 27, 2011, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.5	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated February 6, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.6	Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 6, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.7	Form of Warrant used in connection with February 6, 2013 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.8	Amendment Agreement No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreement and Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 25, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.9	Amendment Agreement No. 2 to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated April 12, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.10	Amendment Agreement No. 3 to Securities Purchase Agreement and Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 25, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.11	Office Lease Agreement, dated August 9, 2011, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Douglas Emmett 1993, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)

10.12	Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Kenneth Londoner
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.13	Indemnity Agreement, dated May 2, 2013 by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Seth H. Z. Fischer (incorporated
	by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.14	Consulting Agreement, dated August 1, 2012, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Asher Holzer (incorporated
	by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Form S-1 filed on July 22, 2013)
10.15	Unsecured Promissory Note made by BioSig Technologies, Inc. in favor of Kenneth Londoner, dated November 21, 2012
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Form S-1/A filed on September 11, 2013)
10.16	Form of 8% Senior Convertible Promissory Note issued pursuant to Bridge Loan Agreement, dated July 20, 2012
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Form S-1/A filed on September 11, 2013)
10.17	Promissory Note made by BioSig Technologies, Inc. in favor of Kenneth Londoner, dated December 6, 2012
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Form S-1/A filed on September 11, 2013)
10.18	Amendment Agreement No. 4 to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 14, 2013, by and between BioSig
10.10	Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Form S-1/A
	filed on January 21, 2014)
10.19	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 31, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain
10.17	purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Form S-1/A filed on January 21, 2014)
10.20	Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 31, 2013, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain
10.20	purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Form S-1/A filed on January 21, 2014)
10.21	Form of Warrant used in connection with December 31, 2013 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.21	10.26 to the Form S-1/A filed on January 21, 2014)
10.22	Amendment No. 1 to the BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10,22	10.27 to the Form S-1/A filed on March 28, 2014)
10.23	Amendment Agreement No. 5 to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated March 24, 2014, by and between BioSig
	Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Form S-1/A
	filed on March 28, 2014)
10.24	Patent Assignment, dated March 17, 2014, by and among Budimir Drakulic, Thomas Foxall, Sina Fakhar and Branislav
	Vlajinic and BioSig Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Form S-1/A filed on May 1,
	2014)
10.25	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated April 4, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set
	forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Form S-1/A filed on May 1, 2014)
10.26	Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 4, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set
	forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Form S-1/A filed on May 1, 2014)
10.27	Form of Warrant used in connection with April 4, 2014 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to
	the Form S-1/A filed on May 1, 2014)
10.28	Consulting Agreement, dated December 10, 2010, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Jonathan Steinhouse
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Form S-1/A filed on May 22, 2014)
10.29	Executive Employment Agreement, dated July 15, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Gregory Cash
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed on July 21, 2014)
10.30	Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated July 15, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Gregory Cash
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed on July 21, 2014)
10.31	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain
	purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2014)
10.32	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain
	purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2014)

10.33	Form of Warrant used in connection with August 15, 2014 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
10.34	the Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2014) Letter Agreement and Release, dated as of September 1, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Asher
	Holzer, Ph.D (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed on September 5, 2014)
10.35	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed on September 5, 2014)
10.36	Settlement and Mutual Release Agreement, dated November 3, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and
10.50	David Drachman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2014)
10.37	Composite of Unit Purchase Agreement, dated December 19, 2014, as amended by Supplement No. 1, dated December
	17, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Form 10-K filed on February 20, 2015)
10.38	Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 19, 2014, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain
	purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Form 10-K filed on February 20, 2015)
10.39	Form of "A" Warrant used in connection with December 19, 2014 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
	10.39 to the Form 10-K filed on February 20, 2015)
10.40	Form of "B" Warrant used in connection with December 19, 2014 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
	10.40 to the Form 10-K filed on February 20, 2015)
10.41	Amendment No. 2 to the BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Form S-8 filed on April 17, 2015)
10.42	Amendment No. 3 to the BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Form S-1 filed on May 20, 2015)
10.43	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2015, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Alpha Capital
	Anstalt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed on May 15, 2015)
10.44	Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2015, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and Brio Capital Master Fund Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed on May 15, 2015)
10.45	Amendment Agreement No. 6 to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 30, 2014, by and between BioSig
	Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Form S-1/A filed on June 10, 2015
10.46	Amendment No. 4 to the BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1
	to the Form 8-K filed on May 29, 2015)
10.47	Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2015)
10.48	Unit Purchase Agreement, dated October 23, 2015, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2015)
10.49	Form of Warrant used in connection with October 23, 2015 private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
	to the Form 8-K filed on Form 8-K on October 29, 2015)
10.50	Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 23, 2015, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers
	set forth therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 to the Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2015)
10.54	Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to the Item 1.01 – Entry Into a Material Definitive Agreement to the Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2016)
10.55	Unit Purchase Agreement, dated October 28, 2016, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers set
10.55	forth therein (incorporated by reference to the Item 1.01 – Entry Into a Material Definitive Agreement to the Form 8-K
	filed on November 3, 2016)
10.56	Form of Warrant used in connection with October 28, 2016 private placement (incorporated by reference to the Item 1.01 – Entry Into a Material Definitive Agreement to the Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2016)
10.57	Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 28, 2016, by and between BioSig Technologies, Inc. and certain purchasers
10.57	set forth therein (incorporated by reference to the Item 1.01 – Entry Into a Material Definitive Agreement to the Form 8-K
	filed on November 3, 2016)
10.58	Amendment No. 5 to the BioSig Technologies, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
10.50	to the Form 8-K filed on November 25, 2016)
23.1	Consent of Liggett & Webb, P.A. (filed herewith)
23.2	Consent of Haynes and Boone, LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)
24.1	Power of Attorney (included on signature page)
	II-6

Item 17. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
- (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
- (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement.
- (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

provided, however, that subparagraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement:

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of the securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered that remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A (§230.430A of this chapter), shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. *Provided, however,* that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.
- (5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the undersigned registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

- (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
- (ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
- (iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
 - (iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

(6) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Minneapolis, State of Minnesota on June 8, 2017.

BIOSIG TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth L. Londoner

Name: Kenneth L. Londoner Title: Executive Chairman

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the undersigned officers and directors of BioSig Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, do hereby constitute and appoint Kenneth L. Londoner as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments, exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith) to this Registration Statement and any subsequent registration statement filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which relates to this Registration Statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Kenneth L. Londoner Kenneth L. Londoner	Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director (principal executive officer)	June 8, 2017
/s/ Steve Chaussy Steve Chaussy	Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and accounting officer)	June 8, 2017
/s/ Donald E. Foley Donald E. Foley	Director	June 8, 2017
/s/ Roy T. Tanaka Roy T. Tanaka	Director	June 8, 2017
/s/ Patrick J. Gallagher Patrick J. Gallagher	Director	June 8, 2017
/s/ Seth H.Z. Fischer Seth H.Z. Fischer	Director	June 8, 2017
/s/ Jeffrey F. O'Donnell, Sr. Jeffrey F. O'Donnell, Sr.	Director	June 8, 2017
/s/ Jerome B. Zeldis Jerome B. Zeldis	Director	June 8, 2017
/s/ David Weild IV David Weild IV	Director	June 8, 2017

June 8, 2017

BioSig Technologies, Inc. 12424 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 745 Los Angeles, California 90025

Re: BioSig Technologies, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to BioSig Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), in connection with the proposed registration of 5,283,923 shares of common stock of the Company, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), comprised of 3,242,668 shares of Common Stock (the "Common Shares") and up to 2,041,255 shares of Common Stock (the "Warrant Shares") issuable upon the exercise of warrants (the "Warrants"), pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (the "Registration Statement") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") on June 8, 2017.

The opinions expressed herein are limited exclusively to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "<u>DGCL</u>") and applicable provisions of the Delaware Constitution and reported judicial decisions interpreting the DGCL and such provisions of the Delaware Constitution and we have not considered, and express no opinion on, any other laws or the laws of any other jurisdiction.

In rendering the opinions expressed herein, we have examined and relied upon the originals, or copies certified to our satisfaction, of (i) the Registration Statement, including the prospectus, and all exhibits thereto; (ii) the Company's Certificate of Incorporation and any amendments to date certified by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware; (iii) the Company's By-laws and any amendments to date certified by the Executive Chairman of the Company; (iv) the minutes and records of the corporate proceedings of the Company with respect to the authorization of the issuance of the Common Shares and the Warrant Shares covered by the Registration Statement and related matters thereto; (v) the Warrants; (vi) a specimen of the Company's Common Stock certificate; and (vii) such other records, documents and instruments as we have deemed necessary for the expression of the opinions stated herein.

BioSig Technologies, Inc. June 8, 2017 Page 2

In making the foregoing examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures (other than those of the Company), the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as certified or photostatic copies thereof and the authenticity of the originals of such latter documents. As to all questions of fact material to these opinions, where such facts have not been independently established, we have relied, to the extent we have deemed reasonably appropriate, upon representations or certificates of officers of the Company or governmental officials.

Based upon the foregoing and subject to the assumptions and qualifications stated herein, we are of the opinion that:

The Common Shares were duly authorized for issuance by all necessary corporate action of the Company and are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

The Warrant Shares have been duly authorized for issuance by all necessary corporate action of the Company and, when issued and paid for in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Warrants, the Warrant Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion with the Commission as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement and to the reference to our firm under the caption "Legal Matters" in the prospectus constituting part of such Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not hereby admit that we are in the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Haynes and Boone, LLP

Haynes and Boone, LLP

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to use in this Form S-1 Registration Statement of our report dated March 30, 2017, relating to the financial statements of BioSig Technologies. Inc. which appear in this Registration Statement. Our report includes an explanatory paragraph expressing substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern

We also consent to the references to us under the heading "Experts" in such Registration Statement.

/s/ Liggett & Webb, P.A.

New York, New York June 8, 2017